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IN THE UNITED ST ATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND
Southern Division

*

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,
V. Case No.: PWG-16-1997
PETER HOROWITZ, etal.,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

United States citizens Peter Horowitz and &udarowitz lived in Saudi Arabia for most
years between 1984 and 2001. Beginning in 1988, itEpntained a Swiss bank account at the
Union Bank of Switzerland (“UBS”)ith money that Peter earned siking as an anesthesiologist
in Saudi Arabia. When they returned to theteth States they did naiose their Swiss bank
account; by 2008, its balance was almost $2 millionvard the end of 2008, Peter transferred the
money to another Swiss bank accoatt-inter Bank (“Finter”), thisime in his name only. Yet,
Peter, who communicated for the couple witlitlaccountant, never mentioned the accounts, and
they signed their tax returns each year without ever answeriag’ ‘% the income tax return
guestion about whether they had money in ams®aes account or filing a file ForiiD F 90-22.1
(“FBAR”) to disclose either acmnt. In 2010, they disclosed thends for the first tire, and in
June 2014, the Government assessed penalties of $247,030 against each of them for their alleged
willful failure to disclose the UBS account for the 2007 tax year and penalties of $247,030 against

each of them for their alleged willful failure tosdlose the Finter account for the 2008 tax year.
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The Governrant has brought this action tmllect those penalties, and it moves for
summary judgment on its claims. ECF No.'6&he Horowitzes have filed a cross-motion for
summary judgment, ECF No. 68, anggithat the IRS reversed the 20denalties, such that the
penalties the Government is tngito collect were not assessedIl#016, at which time they were
untimely. They also argue that their failuredtsclose was not willful—a point that would reduce
the maximum penalties from 50% of the amount enftireign account at the time of the violation
to $10,000. Because the Horowitzes have not shown that the IRS actuailectethe penalties
in 2014, they have not established that the stabfitimitations ran before the penalties were
assessed. Further, the undispdtads show that their failure thsclose the UBS account on their
2007 tax return was willful, and that Peter’s fegltio disclose the Fiat account on their 2008 tax
return also was willful. Therefore, the Gonment’'s motion will be granted and Defendants’

denied with regard to the penalties for 2@0id those assessed against Peter for 2008.

But, as noted, in October 200Beter transferred the fundstaf their joint Swiss bank

account into a Swiss bank account in his namly at Finter Bank. Despite the undisputed

! The parties have filed cross-motions for suanyrjudgment, ECF Nos. 66 and 68. The completed
briefing, as amended, appears on the docketlas/& the Government’'s Amended Memorandum

in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment, ECF Nos 82; Defendants’ Amended
Memorandum in Support of their Opposition &wbss-Motion for Summary Judgment, ECF No.

86; the Government’s Amended Reply and Opposition, ECF No. 83; and Defendants’ Amended
Reply, ECF No. 85. Additionally, Susan Horowfiled a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment,

ECF No. 67. The completed briefing for that motion, as amended, appears on the docket as
follows: Susan’s Amended Memorandum, ECF No. 79; the Government's Amended Opposition
to Susan’s Motion, ECF No. 84; andsan’s Amended Reply, ECF No. 80.

The parties filed a Joint Stipulation of FadEGF No. 76, as well as Joint Exhibits, ECF
No. 87. They also briefed a dispute regarding the authenticity of saime éthibits; the briefing
appears at ECF Nos. 88, 90, and 91. Given that | did to rely on tkiabésein ruling on the
pending motions, their dispute is moot.

A hearing is not necessary with regard to the pending mot®es.Loc. R. 105.6.



evidence tht the parties intended for Susan toableolder on that account as well, and that they
added her to the account in 2009, Susan was nat@unt holder on the Finter account in 2008.
Nor has the Government shown that she had angdiakinterest in or authority over the Finter
account in 2008. Therefore, shedhao obligation to disclose e¢hFinter account, and FBAR
penalties against herf@008 are not appropriate Accordingly, Susan’s individual motion for
partial summary judgment on this claim regagd2®08 penalties is granted, and the Government’s

motion with regard to 2008 penak against Susan will be denied.

FBAR Penalties

Individuals who pay taxes to the United States must “tegonually to the Internal
Revenue Service (‘IRS’) any financial interests thaye in any bank, securities, or other financial
accounts in a foreign countryUnited States v. Williamg89 Fed. App’x 655, 656 (4th Cir. 2012)
(citing 31 U.S.C. 8§ 5314(a)). To do so, a taxpayer must file “a completed form TD F 90-22.1
(‘FBAR’) with the Department of the Treasury . . on or before June 30 of each calendar year
with respect to foreign financial accountsintained during the previous calendar ye&t.’(citing
31 U.S.C. §5314; 31 C.F.R. 88 1010.350, 1010.306(cy tdkpayer fails tale a timely FBAR,

“the Secretary of the Treasury may impose a civil money penaltg.” (citing 31 U.S.C.

§ 5321(a)(5)(A)).

When a violation is not “willfil,” the amount of civil pealty is capped at $10,000. 31
U.S.C. § 5321(a)(5)(B)(i). In contrast, “[i]n tlease of any person willfullyiolating, or willfully

causing any violation of, any @vision of section 5314, . . .éhmaximum penalty [of $10,000 for

2 Although the Horowitzes still had the UBS aoat for most of 2008, the IRS did not assess
penalties against them for faug to disclose that aoant for tax year 2008; the penalties for 2008
were specifically for failure to discloseeth-inter account. ECF Nos. 87-31 (2008 Penalty
Assessment Cert., Peter), 87-33 (2008 Penalty Assessment Cert., Susan).



a non-willful violation] shall be increased to theeaterof—(1) $100,000, or (Il) 50 percent of the
[balance in the account at the time of tholation].” 31 U.S.C. 8§ 5321(a)(5)(C)(iee United
States v. ShindayNo. 18-CV-6891-CAS-EX, 2018 WL 6330424,*8t(C.D. Cal.Dec. 3, 2018)
(quoting 31 U.S.C. § 5321(a)(5)(C) and notingtt@ongress reaved the original $100,000 cap

on penalties for willful violationsvhen it anended the statute in 2004).

The Horowitzes do not dispute the statutorguwion. Defs.” Am Reply 14. Nonetheless,
they argue that “the Department of the Tregisvia notice and comemt rulemaking promulgated
regulations, limited the maximum amount of willful FBAR penalt@$100,000.”ld. (citing 31
C.F.R. 8 103.27). And, relying dgnited States v. Colliot, 2018 WL 2271381, at *3 (W.D. Texas

2018), they insist that e IRS cannot act outsidé its own regulation.d. at 15.

It is true that 31 C.F.R. § 103.27, whicmiswv 31 C.F.R. §010.820(g)(2), provides that
“[flor any willful violation committed after Octoer 27, 1986 . . . the Secretary may assess upon
any person, a civil penalty[] . . . not to exceled greater of the amant (not to exceed $100,000)
equal to the balance in the account at tinee of the violation, or $25,000.” 31 C.F.R.
§1010.820(g)(2) (reorganized and renumbered, with technical corrections, eff. Mar. 1, 2011). But,
as the Court of Federal Claims recently explained:

On October 22, 2004, Congress enacted a new statute that increased the statutory
maximum penalty for a “willful” violatiorto “the greater of [ ] $100,000, or [] 50
percent of the ... balance in the aauat the time of the violation3ee American
Jobs Creation Act of 2004, Pub.Mo. 108-357, 118 Stat. 1418, 1586, § 821 (Oct.
22, 2004) (“Jobs Creation Act”). And, on July 1, 2008, the IRS issued I.R.M.
84.26.16.4.5.1, that stated: “At the time of this writing, the regulations at [31
C.F.R. 8§ 1010.820] have not been revisedeftect the change in the willfulness
penalty ceiling.” .LR.M. 8§ 4.26.16.4.5.1. The SRhowever, warned that, “the
statute i.e., the Jobs ation Act] is self-exeuting and the new penalty ceilings
apply.” .LR.M. 8§ 4.26.16.4.5.1. Although, the J@reation Act is inconsistent with

31 C.F.R. 8 1010.820(g)(2), it settled law that an ageyis regulatons “must be
consistent with the statute under which they are promulgatédtéd States v.
Larionoff, 431 U.S. 864, 873, 97 S.Ct. 2150, 53 L.Ed.2d 48 (1977). Since the civil
penalty amount for a “willful” violationn 31 U.S.C. § 5321(a)j%2003) was



replaced with 31 U.S.C. § 5321(a)(5)(C)YR004), the April 8, 1987 regulations
are “no longer valid.” Noman, 138 Fed.Cl. at 196.

Kimble v. United StatesNo. 17-421, 2018 WL 6816546, at *i%ed. Cl. Dec. 27, 2018)
(emendations in original). TH&@mble Court persuasivelyejected the Collio€ourt’s conclusion
that “the IRS is still bound bthe nmaximum penalty in the pr2004 statute,” reasing that the
conclusion “conflicts with the decision of the UnitState Court of Appealer the Federal Circuit
in Barseback Kraft AB v. United Statd21 F.3d 1475 (Fed. Cir. 199Where the Ederal Circuit
concluded that the fact that régtions “had not been foratly withdrawn from the Code of Federal
Regulations [did] not save them from inwhy” based on a confliatig federal statutdd. (quoting
Barseback, 121 F.3d at 1480). On that basis,Kineble Court affirmed a civil penalty of

$697,229, representing 50% of théex@nt accont balance.

Moreover, the IRS’s Internal RevenManual (“I.R.M.”) § 4.26.16.6.5(3) now provides
that “[flor violations occurring after Octob&2, 2004, the statutory ceilj is the greater of
$100,000 or 50% of the balance in the accountdiithe of the violation.” 1.R.M. § 4.26.16.6.5(3)
(Nov. 6, 2015).

The purpose of the IRS Manual is to govéne internal dhirs of the Internal
Revenue Servicésee United Stas v. Horne714 F.2d 206, 207 (1st Cir.1983).
The provisions of the manual do not hadkre force of law and are notamdatory

or binding for the IRSSee id. See also Anderson v. United Std##§,.3d 795, 799

(9th Cir.1995). Despite these weaknesties,manual has been used, on atéh
basis, to provide guidance inénpreting term in regulationsSee United States v.
Boyle,469 U.S. 241, 243 n. 1, 105 S.Ct. 687, 83 L.Ed.2d 622 (1985) (citing IRM
section 4350(24) for what constitutes reasonable cause for filing a late tax return).
Thus, it is possible for sections of the IRS manual to bear a limited relevance to
actions such as the one at hand.

Vons Cos. v. United States, 51 Fed. Cl. 1, 13 n.12 (2@@dgified, M. 00-234T, 2001 WL
1555306 (Fed. CIl. Nov. 30, 200Bndabrogation on other grounds recognizedAipha 1, L.P

ex rel. Sands v. United Stat88 Fed. Cl. 279, 288 (2008). | agree with kiieble Court that 31



C.F.R. 8 1010.820(g)(2) cannot be enforced light of its conflict with 31 U.S.C.
§ 5321(a)(5)(C)(1) and this more recent provisimm the IRS’s Internal Revenue Manu@ee

Kimble, 2018 WL 6816546, at *15; I.R.M. § 4.26.16.6.5(3)

“The authority to enforce such asseests has been delegated to the IRSilliams, 489
Fed. App’x at 656 (citig 31 C.F.R. § 1010.810(g)). The statatdimitations for assessing civil
penalties for FBAR violations of 31 U.S.C. 8§ 5314iis years, and it begs to run on the date
that the FBAR is due. 31 U.S.C. § 5321(b)(1ge sUnited States v. Bussell, No.
CV1502034SJOVBKX, 2015 WL B¥826, at *6 (C.D. Cal. Dec. 8, 2015) (“The Secretary of the
Treasury may assess a civil pepdibr willfully failing to timely report financial interests in
foreign accounts “at any time before the end of the 6—year period beginning on the date of the

transaction with respect to veh the penalty is assessed.”).

Background

Defendants Peter Horowitz, M.D. and Susamdwatz, Ph.D. are U.S. citizens who have
been narried since 1969. Jt. Stip. of FactsThey lived and worked in Saudi Arabia from 1984
to 1992 and 1994 to 2001. K 4, 9, 10. Susan, who only worked part of the time they resided
in Saudi Arabia, was paid in cash, which she spent on family living expelasdd 10, 13, 14.
From 1984 to 1988, Peter “deposited most of hig'gatdo a Saudi Arabian account at Al-Rajhi

Bank, which had a branch at the KiRgisal Hospital where he workedd. T 12.

Using funds from his Al-Rajhi Bank account,t®eestablished an account at the Swiss
bank Foreign Commerce Bank (“FOCQO”) in 1988.1 16. When the Horowags returned to the
United States in 1992, “Peter withdrew the remaining balance in his account at Al-Rajhi Bank.”

Id. { 18.



In 1994, the Horowitzes returned tausli Araba, and Peter closed the FOCO bank account
and opened an account at the Union Bank of Svazeérn(“UBS”), “using funds transferred from
his FOCO account.Id. 1 19, 21, 22. Peter and Susan jointly owned the UBS account, and the
“account opening documents listed an addfes®eter and Susan [in] Saudi Arabitd’ 11 23,
27. Peter used his account at the Al-Rajhi Baradralgeginning in 1997 and transferred his savings

to the UBS accountd. J 25.

When the Horowitzes left Saudi Arabia for the United States in 2001, Peter again withdrew
the funds that remained in his Saudi Arabian bank acclml§t26. The Horowitzes left the UBS

account open. Id. 1 26.

From 2001 to 2008, Peter monitored the UBS account “by calling the bank every year or
two,” and neither of the Horowitzes made algposits into or withdrawals from the accoudt.
19 28-29. After “read[ing] troublingews articles concerning UBSeter called UBS and then

traveled to Switzerland in October 2008 and closed the acclsuritq 30, 32, 34-35.

Peter transferred the account lp&la to an account that he opened at another Swiss bank,
Finter Bank (“Finter”). Idf 36. Peter had brought Susan’sgmort with him “to designate her
as a joint account owner of the Finter accountatithe that he opened that account,” but Finter
would not allow him to do so because Susan was not prédefit37. When Peter opened the
account, he filled out a “List oAuthorized Signatories and Porgeof Attorney for Natural
Persons,” designating Susan as a person to whgamvee'an unlimited power of attorney.” Finter
Bank Docs., ECF No. 87-8, at 1-2. Because she was not present, Susan could not sign the

“signature specimen” box on the forB@ee id.

According to the Government,



The UBS account was a “holdaili accountin which the bank agreed to hold
statements at the bank for pickup or Exsjon by the account holders rather than
mailing them to account holders on a periodic basis. “BLST Zurich” is the only
information that appeared in the adsréield of the Defendants’ UBS bank account
statements. UBS typically chargede ffor this “hold mail” service.

Compl. 113, ECF No. 1. Peter Horowitz neithendtd nor denied thidlagation. P. Horowitz
Ans. 1 13, ECF No. 17. Peter did, however, admit in his AnswerRiraet Bank designated the
account as a numbered account and a hold mail accoaht]’21 (emphasis added). Yet, Peter
testified on November 9, 2017 that when he idien the UBS account as a hold mail account on
an IRS Offshore Voluntary Disclosure Programnip he did so incorrectly, as it was not. P.

Horowitz Dep. 127:19 — 129:16, 131:12-%8p alsd-orms, ECF No. 87-1.

The Horowitzes did not make any additional deposits after opening the Finter account. Jt.
Stip. of Facts] 40. In October 2009, théyaveled to Switzerlandnal added Susan “as a joint

owner of record of the Finter accountd. | 41.

Accountant Jack Weiss began preparing Pefggisonal tax returns beginning in about the
late 1970’s and continuing through the time the Matzes lived in Saudi Arabia, during which
time he prepared their joint income tax retulah. 1 42—45. Weiss would praqe the tax returns
and mail them to the Horowitzes for signatuaed the Horowitzes wodlsign them and submit
them to the IRS.Id. 11 46—47. Accountant Ilvan Sokoloff begareparing the Horowitzes tax
returns sometime afterek returned from Saudi Arabia,dhe prepared their 2007 and 2008 joint
tax returns, which Donald Hilker, a partnertia¢ firm where Sokoloff worked, “reviewed and
signed as the ‘paid preparer.” i 51, 53, 54. The Horowitzes’ tax returns, “including those
for 2007 and 2008, were prepared relying on summafi¢ax-pertinent information that Peter
prepared and mailed to the return preparer eaal’ythose “summaries never listed the UBS or

Finter account.ld. 11 48, 49. Additionally, Peter, whoramunicated with t accountants on



behalf of hinself and his wifeid. § 49, never asked whether he should disclose either account. P.

Horowitz Dep. 168:6-9, ECF No. 87-1.

The 2007 tax return included “Part Ill: Faye Accounts and Trusts,” which stated:
You must complete this part if you)(dad over $1,500 of taxable interest or

ordinary dividends; or (b) luba foreign account; dc) received aistribution from,
or were a grantor of, or aamsferor to, a foreign trust.

7a At any time during 2007, did you have iaterest in or a signature or other
authority over a financiaccount in a foreign countrguch as a bank account,
securities account, or other finanaalcount? See page B-2 for exceptions and
filing requirements for Fon TD F 90-22.1 [FBAR].

b If “Yes,” enter the name of the foreign country.

8 During 2007, did you receive a distribution from, or werethewrantor of, or
transferor to, a foreign trust?

If “Yes,” you may have to file Form 3520. See page B-2.

Form 1040, Sched. B, ECF No. 87-16, at 8. The 2808eturn included the same questioSse

Form 1040, Sched. B ECF No. 87-17, at 7. On the 2007 and 2008 tax returns, the Horowitzes’
accountant, on their behalf, typed‘a in the box for “No” next toquestions 7and 8; the line

next to 7b was blank. Form 1040, SchedEBF No. 87-16, at 8; Form 1040, Sched. B ECF No.
87-17, at 7. “The Horowitzes did not tty file FBARSs for either 2007 or 2008Ld. § 55. In

2009, however, they did timely file an FBAR, “digsing their interest in the Finter Account.” Id.

1 56.

The Horowitzes identified the FOCO, UBS, and Finter accounts to the IRS in January 2010
and “requested they be accepted into the Deat of the Treasury’'s ‘Offshore Voluntary
Disclosure Program’™ (the “Program”which they were that same montt. Y 59-6CG As

required by the Program, the Horowitzes ‘tilan FBAR for each year 2003 through 2008 and

3 Curiously, in their Answers, the Horowitzes had denied that he patgdpn the program or
even was aware of the program. P. Hatpwns. § 25; S. Horowitz Ans.  25.



amended Form 1040 income taxuras for 2003 through 2008ld. 1 61. They opted out of the

Program in December 2012.  62.

On May 19, 2014, the IRS sent a “Letter 937&axh of the Horowaes. ECF No. 87-27,
at 1, 2 (Peter); ECF No. 87-28, at 1, 2 (Susan). The letter stated that the IRS had “enclosed an
examination report showing proposed FBARhaléy for [2007 and 2008]” and directed the
Horowitzes to review the report and inform thé&lRhether they agreed (in which case they could
sign an enclosed form and send in thegtrested” payment by check) or disagrektl.at 2. If
they disagreed, they could signConsent to Extend the Time to Assess Civil Penalties provided
by 31 U.S.C. 8§ 5321 for FBAR Vidians (“Consent to Extend tiéme”) “to provide additional
time to discuss the adjustments$d’. The letter provided that if the Horowitzes did neither by June
2, 2014, the IRS would “process [ifjecase based on the infortian shown in the report.ld.
The Horowitzes each already had filed a Consent to Extend the Time on May 3, 2014, which the

IRS signed on June 4, 2014. ECF N®&:61 (Peter), 87-62 (Susan).

On June 13, 2014, the IRS assessed two $247,08R pBnalties again®eter Horowitz:
one “for his willful failure to re@ort an account at UBS in 2007,” ame “for his willful failure to
report an account at Finter baink2008”; it assessed identical tolamounts as penalties against
Susan Horowitz. Jt. Stmt. of Fadi§ 63—64see Form 13448 Penaltysdessment Certification
(Title 31 “FBAR”), ECF Nos. 87-30 (Pete2007), 87-31 (Peter, 2008), 87-32 (Susan, 2007), 87-
33 (Susan, 2008). It was Nancy Beasley, FBARaRg Coordinator, who input the information
into a database to assess the penalties; the datglemerated forms that stated the penalties.
Beasley Tr. 6:13-7:5, ECF No. 87-38. She pdniiee four forms for her manager, William
Calamas, CTR Operations Manager, to sign, whiklid the same day, tledy “verif[ying] that

the assessment[s] [were] de@” Beasley Tr. 7:5-19; Form 13448 Penalty Assessment

10



Certifications. On the same date, the IRS sent the Horowitzes Letter 3708 “to demand payment”
of the FBAR penalties. ECF Nos.-84 (Peter), 87-35 (Susan). Tledter stated that they “may
still request a hearing in [tHRS] Appeals Office,” by submittinthe “request([] in writing, within

30 days from the date of th[e] letter, by feliog the requirements provided in Letter 3709’

On June 23, 2014, Peter filed an “FBAR Pritesppealing the proposed FBAR penalties
to “IRS Appeals.” ECF No. 87-24, at 1. The FBAR st stated that “[t]he date for filing this
protest was extended toly24, 2014 by agreementfd. The record does not include an FBAR
Protest signed by Susan, but the parties aged€[t]fter the IRS examination, Peter and Susan
Horowitz protested their respeatiwillful FBAR penalties to th&éRS Office of Appeals.” Jt. Stip
of Facts § 67. Their appeal was assigned to IRS Appeals InternationalliSp€cayse Rodrigo,

Jt. Stip. of Facts {1 67, 71, whoieet that the Horowitzes haitkild Consents to Extend the Time,
extending the statute difnitations for assessing thesenpéties to December 31, 2015, Emails,
ECF No. 87-37; seét. Stmt. of Fact§] 65-66. The Horowitzes audwledge that “the FBAR
penalties had already been asedsagainst Peter Horowitz andsan Horowitz,” but assert that
“Ms. Rodrigo determined that the cad®uld have beein an unassessed posture for purposes of
IRS Appeals review.” Defs.” Am. Mem. 17 (¢ig Emails, ECF No. 87-37) (emphasis added).
On October 16, 2014, Rodrigo asked her manatgrnifer Sawyer, and IRS Appeals FBAR
Coordinator Daisy Batman to reverse the 280d@ 2008 penalty assessments. Defs.” Am. Mem.
17 (citing Emails, ECF No. 87-37). Batman in turn emailed Beasley on October 17, 2014,
“requesting that Ms. Beasley ‘remove/reverdg willful FBAR penalties” as “prematurely”
assessedld. at 17-18citing Emails, ECF No. 87-37). Beaglaformed Batman in an October
24, 2014 email that she had “removed the penafiytidate on the penalties.” Emails, ECF No.

87-37.

11



According to Beasley’s Apri26, 2017 testimony, she reversbd FBAR penalties when
she removed the penalty date. Beasley Tr. 282€%# No. 87-38. But, priously, in a January
24, 2017 Declaration, Beasley had stated that removing the pemaltydate “did not effect a
reversal or removal of the June 13, 2014 assessment.” Beasley DedE@FLNo. 87-54. And,
on May 20, 2016, in response to a request from Batharshe “confirm[] that the assessed FBAR
penalty was never reversed for both Petel @usan Horowitz,” Beasley had written:

You are correct. | did remove the d&enalty was input bullid not clear the

information. | was awaiting determinati, now you have given it and it remains

the same. | will input the original penalty input date and proceed with the referral
to DOJ.

Emails, ECF No. 87-37.

The Government brought thistemn “to collect thepenalties assessed against Peter and
Susan Horowitz under 31 U.S.C. § 5321(a)(5) forrtfelure to report an interest in a foreign
bank account for the calendar years 2007 and 20Q@&ihpl. 1, ECF No. 1. It claims that the
Horowitzes had to report the UBS and Firdecounts because theildraces exceeded $10,000,
but the Horowitzes failed file timely FBARSs for 2007 and 2008, ymolation of 31 U.S.C. § 5314.

Id. 1 27—-28. Additionally, it claims that they did so willfully. Id. § 31.

Standard of Review

Summary judgment is prop&hen the roving party demonstrates, through “particular
parts of materials in the record, includirdgpositions, documents, electronically stored
information, affidavits or declarations, stipulations admissions, interrogatory answers, or other
materials,” that “there is no genuine dispute aarty material fact and ¢hmovant is entitled to
judgment as a matter of law.” @eR. Civ. P. 56(a), (c)(1)(Axee Baldwin v. City of Greensboro,

714 F.3d 828, 833 (4th Cir. 2013). If the party seeking summary judgment demonstrates that there

12



is no evidence to support the nonmoving party’s daseburden shifts tthe nonmoving party to
identify evidence that shows that a genuine dispute exists as to materialSaetdMatsushita
Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Carp75 U.S. 574, 585-87 & n.10 (1986). Where, as here, the
parties present the Court with cross-motionsstonmary judgrant, the Court must consider the
facts relevant to each motion in tight most favorable to the nonmovaMellen v. Bunting327

F.3d 355, 363 (4th Cir. 2003).
Discussion

Statute of Limitations

The parties agree that the IRS timely assd the FBAR pwlties on June 13, 2014, and
the statute of limitations for assessing FBp&nhalties ran on December 31, 2015. Jt. Stip. of
Facts 11 63—-66; Defs.” Am. Mem. 14-16, 17 (“[TFHBAR penalties had already been assessed
against Peter Horowitz and Saddorowitz” on June 13, 2014.). Nonetheless, Defendants argue
that they are entitled to summary judgment drclaims because the statute of limitations for
assessing FBAR penalties had run before the Govarhassessed penalties against them. Defs.’
Am. Mem. 14. Specifically, they contendhatlthe penaltiesssessed on June 13, 20ith at 16,
were reversed on October 24, 204 at 18-19, 22, and not “reassess[ed]” until May 20, 2016,
id. at 22, long after the December 31, 2015 statulenofations for assessing the penalties had

run, id. at 14. Thus, the question is whether twmyd have been (and were) reversed.

The Government concedes that “aroundaDer 24, 2014, Ms. Beasley ‘removed the
penalty input dates’ from the ‘modules’ in fdatabase (to use Defendants’ term) corresponding
to the penalty assessments against the Defendants,” as well as that “she certainly took this action

in response to Ms. Batman’s request (transohitte behalf of Grayse Rodrigo) that she

13



‘remove/reverse the assessed pémltGov't Am. Reply & Opp’n 22.But, it does not agree that

these actions amounted to an actual removal of the penalties them$ghat1-23.

Significantly, Beasley’s statements in this regawdflict, as she first declared that she did
not reverse the June 2014 assessments and then testified that sGerdphreMay 20, 2016
Email from Beasley, ECF No. 87-37, at 1 (statingt tBatman was “correct” that “the assessed
FBAR penalty was never reversed for both Peter and Susan Horowitz,” as all Beasley did was
“remove the date Penalty was input” without “clear[ing] the informatioafid Jan. 24, 2017
Beasley Decl. 11 9-11 (“l was asked to ‘removetreverse’ the June 13, 2014 assessment . . . .
In response to that request, Inelg cleared the information inélDate Penalty Input’ field within
the database which is used to track FBAR assegsme . [M]y actions did not effect a reversal
or removal of the June 13, 2014 assessmentith, Apr. 26, 2017 Beasley Tr. 28:2-9 (“Q . ..
[Y]ou said you removed the penalty input daBoes that mean, when you said you followed her
instruction, her instruction wagmove and reverse the assegsedalties for ‘07 and '08. Did
you remove and reverse the assegsgdlties for ‘07 and '08? A’es.”). Thus, Defendants have
not demonstrated through evidenceinflisputedacts that Beasley reversed the assessment, such
that the timely assessment was vacated and d@lh@estof limitations fomssessing penalties had

run by the time the IRS assessed FBAR penalties in May 2016.

Moreover, “[t]he statute of limitations is affirmative defense for which the defendant
bears the burden of proofWindsor v. Bd. of Educ. of Prince George’s Co. TDC-14-2287,
2016 WL 4939294, at *9 (D. M Sept. 13, 2016) (citingoodman v. Praxair, Inc494 F.3d 458,
464 (4th Cir. 2007)). Defendants have not shovat, tbven if Beasley believed she reversed the
penalty, she had the authority to do so. Notably, to assepsrihéies in the first place, Beasley

not only input the data; she then printed a fohat her manager signed. Beasley Tr. 7:11-19;
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Form 13448 Penalty Assessment Certifications. Beasley to be able to reverse or remove an
FBAR penalty assessment without her managegisasure would be incongruous with his initial

signature required to impose thenalty in the first instance.

And, as the Government notes, Gov't Am. M8, an agency must have Department of
Justice approval to “compromise a claim of the Government” that exceeds $100,000. 31 U.S.C.
§ 3711(a)(2) (“The head of an executive, judicial, or legislative agency-mg compromise a
claim of the Government of not more than $100,@@luding interest) or such higher aumt as
the Attorney General may from time to time p@se that has not beeneferred to another
executive or legislative agency for further cdiies action . . . .”); 31 C.F.R. § 902.1(b) (“Unless
otherwise provided by law, when tpencipal balance of a debt, exclusive of interest, penalties,
and administrative costs, exceeds $100,000ngr tagher amount authorized by the Attorney
General, the authority to accept the compromise reih the Department of Justice. The agency
should evaluate the compromise offer, using thetdrs set forth in this part. If an offer to
compromise any debt in excess of $100,000 is adoleptia the agency, the agency shall refer the
debt to the Civil Divisioror other appropriate litigating division in the Department of Justice using
a Claims Collection Litigation Report (CCLRAgencies may obtain the CCLR from the
Department of Justice's National Central Int&eeility. The referral sl include appropriate
financial information and a recommendation fag #itceptance of the compromise offer. Justice

Department approval is notqeired if the agency rejects a compromise offer.”).

The Government also notes that the FBARdM&es section of the 1.R.M. “advises IRS
employees: ‘Post-assessed FBAR casesdasxof $100,000 cannot be compromised by Appeals
without approval of Deparient of Justice (DOJSee31 U.S.C. § 3711(a)(2) and 31 C.F.R.

§902.1(a) and (b). Once assessed the penatiynhes a claim of the U.S. government.” Gov't
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Am. Mem. 33 (quoting I.R.M. § 8.11.6.1.6.)The I.R.M., which “can provide guidancesée
Vons Cos. v. United Statesl Fed. Cl. 1, 13 n.12 (2001), sugtgethat, once assessed, an FBAR
penalty exceeding $100,000, such as the Horowipsslties, cannot be compromised without
DOJ approval.See I.R.M. § 8.11.6.1.6.

Certainly, Defendants argue thegnoval or reversal doesot fit the definition of
compromise, and that may be semantically tiBet, Defendants have not established that, when
the IRS could not “compromise” an FBAR pégabove $100,000 at alithout DOJ approval,
it nonetheless could eliminateetidebt altogether by removinbe FBAR penalties after ely
undisputedly were assessed. Therefore, miEfets have not provethat the tinely FBAR
assessments were reversed or removed when Beasley altered the data, nor have they established
that she had the authority to reverse an assessi@ensequently, they have nogntheir burden
of proving that the statute of limitations ran before the FBAR penalties were ass&esed.
Goodman494 F.3d at 464A\Vindsor 2016 WL 4939294, at *9. Insofar as the Horowitzes rely on

the statute of limitations, their Cross-NMm for Sumnary Judgnent is denied.

Liability for Failure to File FBAR

The Government seeks tolleat on FBAR penaltieghat the IRS assessed and the
Horowitzes have refused to pay. It filed suirsuant to 31 L$.C. 8 5321(b)(1), which “permits
the Secretary of Treasury toolmmence a civil action to recava civil penalty assessed under

subsection (a) . . . .”United Sates v. WilliamsNo. 09-CV-437, 2010 WL 3473311, at *1 (E.D.

41.R.M. 8 8.11.6, FBAR Penalties, was updategt&eaber 27, 2018 and nariger includes I.R.M.
§8.11.6.1.6. Seel.R.M. § 8.11.6, available ahttps://www.irs.gov/irm/part8/irm_08-011-006.
But, the Horowitzes do not digte that this subpart applied Jnne and October, 2014, focusing
instead on the language of the statute and its mea#aDefs.” Reply 12-14.
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Va. Sept. 1, 2010) Williams 1), rev'd on other grounds, 489 Fed. App’x 655 (4th Cir. 2012)
(“Williams 1”). In Williams |, the District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia observed that
“the statute does not indicate the legtandard to be applied by courts in such an action,” and that,
to the Virginia court’s knowledge, “no otheourt ... has addressed this issueltl. The
Government relies on the Virgmcourt’'s conclusion that “de novaostandard is appropriated.;
seeGov't Am. Mem. 12, and Defendants do not addtkesssue. Thus, to prevail on its claims,
the Government must show that the undispdteds demonstrate that the Horowitzes were

required, but willfully failed, to file FBARs for 2007 and 2008.

The undispted evidence establishes that tHorowitzes had a foreign bank account with
a balance in excess of $10,00@®07 but did not file an FBARor 2007 by the June 2008 due
date. Jt. Stip. of Facts { 55; Defs.” Am. Mem(9%]hey failed to file FBAR forms for the 2007
and 2008 years.”); 2007 Jt. Tax RetuECF No. 87-16; 2008 Jt. T®eturn, ECF No. 87-16; Dec.
31, 2007 UBS Account Stmt., ECF No. 87-5. It aldmws that they maintained the account
without withdrawing any funds until October 2008ydtich time Peter withdrew all of the money
and deposited it into another foreign bank accomuhich he opened in his mee only. Jt. Stip. of
Facts 1 28-29, 35-36. Stitieither of them filed an FBARr 2008 by the June 2009 due date.
Jt. Stip. of Facts | 55; Defs.” Am. Mem. 2ge Dec. 31, 2008 Finter émunt Stmt., ECF No. 87-
7. The IRS assessed penalties against both Horowitzes for willful failure to disclose the UBS bank
account by June 2008 and the Finter bank account by June 2009. Thus, with regard to Peter’s
failure to file either a 2007 or 2008 FBAR and Susan’s failufdeéa 2007 FBAR, the issue is
simply whether the failure was willful. As for &an’s failure to file a FBAR for 2008 disclosing
the Finter account, there is the addesue of whether she was reqdite make that disclosure. |

will address that preliminary issue first.
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Susan Horowitz and the Finter Account in 2008

The Government seeks to collect a $247,030 Ipgnalus interest, from Susan fdver
failure to disclose the Finter account for 20@&mpl. 1 34, 39. Susan moves for partial summary
judgment, arguing that she was not obligated $oldse that account in 2008. Susan’s Am. Mem.
1. The Treasury Regulations provide:

Each United States person haviadinancial interest in, or signature or other

authority overa bank . . accountin a foreign country shall report such relationship

to the Commissioner of Internal Revenue for each yeahiohasuch relationship

exists and shall provide such infornuati as shall be sgified in a [FBAR]
reporting form . . . .

31 C.F.R. § 1010.350 (emphasis addsel; alsoGov't Am. Opp’n to Susan’s Mot. 2 (citing 31
C.F.R. 8 103.24, which included the same language and was “relazdig{iC.F.R. § 1010.350”

in 2011); Defs.” Am. Reply 10 (citing 31 ER. § 103.24); 31 C.R. § 1010.306 (“Reports
required to be filed by 8 1010.350 shall be filethwrinCEN [Financial Criras Enforcement
Network] on or before June 30 of each calengsar with respect to foreign financial accounts
exceeding $10,000 maintained during the previousidaleyear.”). Ths, the question is whether
Susan had a financial intstan or any authority ovdhe Fnter account in 2008.

It is undisputed that, when Peter Horowitaveled to Switzerland and opened the Finter
account on October 13, 2008, he and Susan intendedntohe account jointly. Jt. Stip. of Facts
1 37. But Susan had not traveledSwitzerland with him, an&inter would not make her an
account holder without her preseso Peter alone signed the opening documents, as the sole
account holder.ld.; Finter Docs., ECF No. 87-63. It alsoundisputed that Susan later became
an account holder, but not until@® Jt. Stip. of Facts { 41. Additionally, it is undisputed that,
when Peter opened the account, he filled out at “disAuthorized Signatories and Powers of

Attorney for Natural Persons,” designating Sus& a person to whom he gave “an unlimited
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power of attorney.” Finter Bank Docs., ECF 183-8, at 1-2. Because she was not present, Susan
could not sign the “signature specimen” box on the f@ee id. The Government concedes that

she could not exercise her powerattbrney until she signed the forrdeeGov't Am. Opp’n to
Susan’s Mot. 6 (“Based on the POA form Peter filled out, Susan could exercise signatory status

once she provided a signature specimen to Fihter

In the Government’s view, Susan had a finanot@rest in and authority over the account,
based on the Horowitzes' intettt include her as an accoumtner and Peter’s designation of
Susan as a power of attorney. Gov't Am. Opp’Stsan’s Mot. 5, 6. Susan counters that, despite
their intent, she simply was not an owner of the Finter account in 2008 and, because she had not
provided a “signature specimenh the power of attorney forrshe did not have any authority

over the account. Susan’s Am. Reply 13.

The Government relies on the 2011 definition%iofincial interest” and “other authority”
that the Treasury Regulations provid8eeGov't Am. Opp’n to Susais Mot. 5, 6 (quoting 31
C.F.R. 8 1010.350(e)(2)(i), (f)). The dafion of “financial interest” states:

A United States person has a financial irdene each bank... account in a foreign

country for which the owner of rembor holder of legal title is—

(i) A person acting as an agent, nominagpmney or in sme other capacity on
behalf of the United States perswith respect to the account[.]

31 C.F.R. 8 1010.350(e)(2)(i). Susaotes that “[t{]hose regulatis were promigated in 2011,”

and she relies instead on the 2008 FBAR definitionJtAted States peradias a financial interest
in ... [a@] financial account in #oreign country for which the own®f record or holder of legal
title is ... a person acting as an agent, nomintetreey, or in sora othe capacity on behalf of
the U.S. person.” Defs.” Am. Reply 10 (citilgstructionsfor Form TD F 90-22.1 (Rev. 10-

2008)). These definitiorare effectively the same.
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It is true that Peter took the funds in thBS account, which Susan jtiynheld, and tried
to open the Finter account on behalf of himself and Susan. Andahted Susan power of
attorney for the Finter account. But, when Fitner would not allow him to open the account in both
of their names, he proceededade their joint fundand place thermto an account in his name
only, over which Susan could nekercise any control ithout traveling to Switzerland and
providing a signature sgimen. Taking money that was in Susan’s name and placing it in an

account that was not in her name cannotninlaht, be seen as auf) on her behalf.

Moreover, the question is whether Peter actetier behalf “with respect to the acogll
that is,afterthe Finter account existed. 31 C.F.R. 8 1010.38®\@. It is undisputed that Peter
did not make any additional deposits after opening the account. Jt. Stip. of Bact&\nd, there
is no evidence that Peter did anything with the account before October 2009 when Susan became
a joint account owner. Thereforeyen if bah parties intendefor Susan to have a financial
interest in the account and she ultimately gainatlitiieresin 2009, she did not have a financial

interest in the account in 200Bee31 C.F.R. § 1010.350(e)(2)(i).

Nor did she have any authority over the account. The definition of “signature or other
authority” as of 2011 is “the authty of an individual (alone oin conjunction with another) to
control the disposition ofmoney, funds or other assets held in a financial account by direct
communication (whether in writing or otherwide)the persn with whom the financial account
is maintained.” 31 C.F.R. § 1010.350(f)($ Gov't Am. Opp’n to Susan’s Mot. 6. Again,
Susan notes that “[tjhose regiidas were promulgated in 2011ghd she relies instead on the
2008 FBAR definition:

[possessing the authority todmtrol the disposition of mmey or other property in

it by delivery of a document containing hish@r signature... tothe bank . . . with

whom the account is maintained. Otlarthority exists in a person who can
exercise comparable power over ancact by communicatiomwith the bank or

20



other person with whom the account isimt@ined, either directly or through an
agent, nominee, attorney or in some ott&pacity on behaldf the U.S. person,
either orally or by some other means.

Defs.” Am. Reply 10 (citing Instructiorfer Form TD F 9022.1 (Rev. 10-2008)).

Even applying the definition the Governmeelies on, Susan did not have authority over
the Finter account in 2008. As noted, the Govemnacknowldges that she “could exercise
signatory statu®nce she provided a signature speminto Finter.”SeeGov't Am. Opp’'n to
Susan’s Mot. 6 (emphasis added). Had she done so in 2008, she would have had signatory status
and, therefore, authority over the account in 20@it he did not. Without that signature
specimen, she could not write tw,otherwise directly communiatvith, the banKto control the
disposition of money, funds or othessets” in the Finter accoiu See31 C.F.R. § 1010.350(f)(1).

Accordingly, she did not have auwtity over the Finter account in 200&ee id.

The Government argues in a footnote thgf the Court finds that Susan Horowitz was
not required to report the Finter accountidgr2008, then she nevertheless committed a 2008
violation by failing to report her interest ihe UBS account, which she co-owned until October
2008.” Gov't Am. Opp’n to Susan’s Mot. 6 n.2. @&Bovernment contends that Susan should not
“now benefit from the maneuver in 2008 teoa disclosure, by being relieved of the 2008
reporting duty and associated penaltyd. at 7. And they offer evidence (much of which is
currently disputed) intended to prove that Peter originally selected the UBS account to avoid
paying taxes on the overseas fuadd then moved the Horowitzes’ money from the UBS account
because otherwise the account would have bestoded and they would have had to pay taxes
on it. E.G., News articles, “Ex-UBS BankereRtls Guilty in Tax Evasion”; “Feds Press Swiss
Bank to Name U.S. Clients --- Tax Officialsrjat An Alleged Dodge; UBS Caught in Blind”;

“U.S. Asks Court to Force UBS to Provide NaaheéJudge Clears U.S. Reest for UBS Clients’
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Names”; “Senate Report Examines Role of Bankgax Evasion”; “SenatReport Today Alleges
Foreign Banks Help Hide Wealthy Americamddbney”; “UBS says it will drop some offshore
services for U.S. clients Change should help kB&p tabs on evasion”; “Senate Probe’s Targets
Give to Campaigns Report Accuses Bank Offiaidislelping Clients Hidéloney From the IRS”;
“IRS, Justice Target Undisclosed Assets insSwAccounts”; “Notice to UBS Accountholders,”

dated Nov. 10, 2009, ECF Nos. 87-44 — 87-53.

But, the Government did not charge Sus#&h an FBAR violation with regard to théBS
account, and in this litigation it does not seekdbiect penalties assessed 2008 with regard to
the UBS account. Certainly, its desire to punsemalties on the Fintexccount for 2008 instead
makes sense, since the UBS account no longerahg funds at the time of the 2008 FBAR
violation, and therefor¢he penalty would haveeen capped at $100,00(6ee31 U.S.C. §
5321(a)(5)(C)(i) (providing that the maximymenaltyfor a willful violation is “thegreater of—
(I) $100,000, or (II) 50 percent of the [balance in theoaacat the time of the violation]”). But,
it could have recognized thatwould not be able toollect againsSusan and instead assessed a
greater penalty against Peter for the Finter account. Essentially, it could have assessed
approximately the same total penalty for 2@$894,060) by assessing a penalty of 50% of the
account balance against Peter instead of moroximately 25% penalty against each of the
Defendants. This would have been a logiggdraach, given that befof@ctober 2008 and after
October 2009, these were joint funds but Susan was not a Finter account owner in 2008. The
outcome would have been that the couple, \diotly paid their taxe and maintained joint
accounts for years, would, together, have had to pay the samount of penalty that the

Government sought to recover by assessirs47,030 penalty against Susan for 2008. The
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Government did not take this approach, howgeard it cannot now collect on a penalty it did not

assess. Susan’s Motion for RarSummary Judgent IS GRANTED.

The Horowitzes’ UBS Account in 2007 andt®eHorowitz’s Finter Account in 2007

The Horowitzes testified that, based on coraoss with other expatriates living im&di
Arabia, they believed that, for “income that wessned in Saudi Arabia, taxes were paid on that
income from Saudi Arabia” and “if you banked it osas, . . . you didn’t have to pay U.S. taxes
on thatincome.” P. Horowitz Dep. 172:2 — W,ECF No. 87-1; S. Horowitz Dep. 186:16-187:6,
ECF No. 87-2 (“[W]e believed thi#tyou earned money overseas,sdé of states and you banked
it overseas, then that money did not have to be taxd@eter stated that he did not think he needed
to file an FBAR for 2007 or 2008. P. Horowitz Dep. 208:10-16. Susan stated that she did not even
know what an FBAR was at thiime. S. Horowitz Dep. 237:11-18ee also idat 159:4-20
(stating that she never has participated in filmgpme tax returns as hthusband handles all of
the taxes”). Their tax accountants neithdeedsabout overseas bankcaants nor explained the
FBAR or the question about foreign accounts~orm 1040, Schedule B, which they completed
on the Horowitzes’ behalf. Sokoloff Dep. 71:2;72:3-12, ECF No. 87-67; P. Horowitz Dep.
166:1—-167:2, 208:21 — 209:3. They insist that eeitth them had actual knowledge of the FBAR
requirement and therefore penalties for willfublations are not appropriate. Defs.” Am. Mem.

23.

The Government counters that, despite the Wiires’ testimony to té contrary, there is
no genuine dispute that they knew about théARBequirement. The Government relies on
Schedule B of the Form 1040s that the Hatoes both signed for 2007 and 2008, which included
a simple instruction in Part Ill: “You must complete this part if yqa) had over $1,500 of taxable

interest or ordinary dividends; @) had a foreign account. . ..” Form 1040, Sched. B, ECF
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No. 87-16, at 8 (emphasis added);Beem 1040, Sched. B ECF No. 87-17, at 7 (same). Certainly,
the Horowitzes had to complete Part Il for theelated reason that they had more than $1,500 in
ordinary dividendsSee Form 1040, Sched. B, ECF No. 87-16, at 8; Form 1040, Sched. B ECF
No. 87-17, at 7. But, the instruction made clear Bzt 11l also applied to taxpayers with foreign
accounts, and, unlike the questiovered by subsection (a), the responseireduby subsection

(b) regarding foreign accounts in no way turned on whether the Horowitzes believed the foreign
account was taxable—merely onether it existed. Peter and Susan had the UBS account in 2007
and until October, 2008, and Peter had the Fateount beginning in October 2008. Neither can
claim that they did not know that Part Il hadkte filled out with regard to those unmistakably

“foreign account[s].”

Schedule B then included a simple question:

7a At any time during 2007, did you have iaterest in or a signature or other
authority over a financiaccount in a foreign countrguch as a bank account,
securities account, or other finanaalcount? See page B-2 for exceptions and
filing requirements for Fon TD F 90-22.1 [FBAR].

b If “Yes,” enter the name of the foreign country.
Form 1040, Sched. B, ECF No. 87-16, at&Form 1040, Sched. B ECF No. 87-17, at 7 (same,

but for 2008). On the 2007 and 2008 tax returnsHthr®witzes’ accountant, on their behalf, typed
an “X” in the box for‘No” next to questions 7and 8; the line next téb was blank. Form 1040,
Sched. B, ECF No. 87-16, at 8; Form 1040, 8cBeECF No. 87-17, at 7. Again, the Horowitzes
cannot contend that they did not know that they drainterest in their UBS account until October
2008, and Peter cannot contend thatlitenot know that he had amerest in the Finter account
later in 2008. As the Government sees it, theoMiizes knew that the answer was “Yes” and that
establishes their actual knowledge of, or attlealful blindness to, te FBAR. Gov't Am. Mem.

23-24.
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In this regardVilliams llis informative® J. Bryan Williams had violated 31 U.S.C. § 5314
by failing to report his interest in two foreigBwiss) bank accounts for the year 2000. 489 Fed
App’x at 656. Similar to the Horowitzes, “[olns 2000 federal tax return, Williams checked “No”
in response to th[e] question [about having interestforeign bank account], and he did not file
an FBAR by the June 30, 2001, deadlindd. at 657. Like the Horowitzes, Williams later
disclosed his foreign accounts when he applietth¢éoOffshore VoluntarCompliance Initiative.

Id. at 657.

The facts diverge in two regards, howevefirst, unlike the Horowitz’s accountants,
Williams’s accountant had asked whether he hadngrest in a foreign bank account, and
Williams had said ndd. at 656. Second, Williams was chargathvand pled guilty to conspiracy
to defraud and criminal tax evasion, related tdumsls held in foreign accounts. And, in pleading
guilty, Williams admitted that he knew that the netgt from the funds in his foreign accounts was
“taxable income to [him]” and that he

had the obligation to report to the IRB8déor the Department of the Treasury the

existence of the Swiss accounts, butth& calendar yearxaeturns 1993 through

2000, [he] chose not to in order to assishiting [his] true income from the IRS
and evade taxes thereon.

Id. at 657.

5> The Horowitzes dismiss this case law ashbiotling. It is true that—even though Fed. R. App.
P. 32.1 permits unpublished opinions todited—the case is not precedentides Williams Il

489 Fed. App’x at 655 (“Unpublished opinions areliating precedent in thisircuit.”); Fed. R.
App. P. 32.1 Advisory Comm. Notes (Rule 32.Fxrenely limited. . . . It says nothing about
what effect a court must give to one ofutgpublished opinions or to the unpublished opinions of
another court. Rule 32.1. addresses onlyiiagion of federal judicial dispositions that have been
designatedhs ‘unpubliskd’ or ‘non-precedential.””).Nonetheless, its weteasoned analysis, in
the absence of any binding precedent, provides useful guidance.
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The IRS assessed civil penalties against Williams, and the Government sought to enforce
them through a civil action in the Eastern District of Virginia. The district court entered
judgment in favor of Williams, and the government appedigdThe question before both courts
was “whether the violation was willful.”ld. at 658. The district court found that Williams’
violation was not willful becaudee “lacked any motivation to willlly conceal the accounts from
authorities,” which already knew about the accouatg] because he did not fail to disclose the
accounts “intentionally or in delibate disregard for the law”; thestiiict court reasoned that the
failure to disclose was “an understandable omisgjiven the context in which it occurredld.

at 658.

The Fourth Circuit disagreeahd reversed. It observed:

“Willfulness may be proven through inference from conduct meant to conceal or
mislead sources of income or other financial information,” anchih ‘be inferred
from a conscious effortto avoid learning albout reporting requirements.”
United States v. Sturma@bl F.2d 1466, 1476 (6th Cir.1B9(internal citations
omitted) (noting willfulness standard iniminal conviction for failure to file an
FBAR). Similarly, “willful blindness” may be inferred where “a defendant was
subjectively aware of a high probability of tle&istence of a tax liability, and
purposefully avoided learning thadts poin to such liability.” United States v.
Poole,640 F.3d 114, 122 (4th Cir021) (affirming criminal conviction for willful

tax fraud where tax preparer “closed &ygs td large accouting discrepancies).
Importantly, in cases “where willfulness is a statutory condition of civil
liability, [courts] have generally taken it to cower not only knowing violations

of a standard, butreckless ones as wll.” Safeco Ins. Co. of America v. Burr, 551
U.S. 47,57, 127 S.Ct. 2201, 167 L.Ed.2d 1047 (enphasis added). Whether

a person has willfully failed to comply with a tax reporting requirement is a
guestion of factRykoff v. United Stated0¥ F.3d 305, 307 (9th Cir.1994)¢cord
United States v. Gormle01 F.3d 290, 294 (4th Cir.2000) (“[T]he question of
willfulness is essentially a finding of fact.”).

Id. at 658 (emphases addeshe als®Bedrosian v. United StateNo. 15-5853, 2017 WL 1361535,
at *4 (E.D. Pa. Apr. 13, 2017) (observing that “only three fedenadtgo. . have engaged in [a
thorough] analysis” of “the precise contourstbé term‘willful’ as used in Section 5321

Williams 1l, United States v. Bohanddo. 15-4347, 2016 WL 7167860 (C.D. Cal. Dec. 8, 2016),

26



andUnited States v. McBrid®08 F. Supp. 2d 1186 (D. Utah 2012), and tk@tliams Bohaneg¢
andMcBride all stand for the proposition that a defemtdlaas willfully violated Section 5321 not
only when he knowingly violates the rule but aldzen he recklessly does so” (citations omitted)).
TheBedrosianCourt noted:

Those holdings are grounded on $greme Court’s decision 8afeco Ins. Co. of
America v. Bury 551 U.S. 47 (2007), where the Codiscussed how to determine
civil liability for “willfully failling] to comply” with the Fair Credit Reporting Act
(“FCRA"). The Court there began by charxizing “willfully” as a “word of many
meanings whose construction is often dependent on the context in which it
appears.” Importantly, it then stated tHathere willfulness is a statutory condition
of civil liability, [the Court has] geerally taken it to cover not only knowing
violations of a standardbut reckless ones as welld. [at 57] (collecting cases in
which the Court so defined the term in tloatext of civil statutes Consistent with
that trend, the Courbnicluded that the FCRérequisite willful intent was satisfied
by a finding that the defendantktessly violated the statute.

2017 WL 1361535, at *4 (citations 8afecp551 U.S. at 57-58 omitted).
The Fourth Circuit concluded that Williamsfailure to file an FBAR was willful,
reasoning:

Williams signed his 2000 federal tax return, thereby declaring under penalty of
perjury that he had “examined this return and accompanying schedules and
statements” and that, to the best of knewledge, the return was “true, accurate,
and complete.” “A taxpayer who signs a tax return will not be heard to claim
innocence for not having actually read tle¢urn, as he or she is charged with
constructive knowledge of its contents3reer v. Commissioner of Internal
Revenue595 F.3d 338, 347 n. 4 (6th Cir.2010)ited States v. Dohert233 F.3d
1275, 1282 n. 10 (11th Cir.2000) (same). \&ithis’s signature is prima facie
evidence that he knew the contents of the retumited States v. Mohne949 F.2d
1397, 1407 (6th Cir.1991), and at a minimdine 7a’s directions to “[s]ee
instructions for exceptions and filing requirements for Form TD F 90-22.1" put
Williams on inquiry notice of the FBAR requirement.

Williams 11, 489 Fed App’at 659.

Certainly, there also was Williams’s testimony that he did not read the directions, and his
response to his tax preparegisestion about overseas accountsteoed the evidence of “conduct

that was ‘meant to conceal or mislead soufemcome or other fiancial information.”Id.
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(quotingSturman, 951 F.2d at 1476). Additionally, his “guilty plea altmzufurther confirm[ed]
that his violation of § 5314 was willful.ld. at 660. But, the Fourth €uit did not state that all
of the evidence before it was necessary to reach the conclusion itSdil.id. at 659-60
(concluding that Williams'’s “conduct constitute[d] willful biness” before noting that his “guilty
plea allocutiorfurther confirm[ed]” the willfulness of his vi@tion (enphasis added)). The Fourth
Circuit stated that Williams’s “conduct constitidfwillful blindness tothe FBAR requirement,”
which it stated was “equally culpahleder the law” to “actual knowledgeld. (quotingPoole,
640 F.3d at 122). It concluded that, “at a mnm, Williams’s undisputed actions establish

reckless conduct, which satisfig® proof requiremnt under § 5314.ld. at 660.

Here, it is undisputed th#te Horowitzes sigrietheir 2007 and 2008xaeturns. Thus,
like Williams, by signing they “declar[ed] under pégaof perjury that [they] had ‘examined this
return and accompanying schedules and statenardghat, to the best of [their] knowledge, the
return was ‘true, accurate, and completeSeeWilliams II, 489 Fed App»at 659. It also is
undisputed that the tax returns included a qaesif whether tay had foreign accounts, followed
by a cross-reference to “exceptions and filinguieenents for Form TD F 90-22.1 [FBAR].”
Because “[a] taxpayer who signs a tax return moli be heard to clainmnocence for not having
actually read the return, as he or she is charged with caigtrknowledge of its contents, [their]
signature[s] [are] prima facie evidence that [they] knew the contents oétilrn,” including the
foreign accounts question and the cross-referémcéling requirenents, which put them “on
inquiry notice of tle FBAR requirerant.” See Williams [1489 Fed App»at 659 (quotingsreer,

595 F.3d at 347 n.4).

The Horowitzes argue that their friends tthém they did not need to pay taxes on the

interest in their foreign accountdaybe so, but their friends’ credtials are not before the Court,
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nor is there any information from which | coadsess whether it was reasonable for tteehave
accepted what their friends told them as legallyemi. And in any event, their friends’ views
would not override the clear instructions on Schedule B, which, as noted, requires a “Yes” answer
if the taxpayer has an interdst a foreign account, regardless whether the funds within it
constituted taxable income. Moreoythe fact that the Horowitzediscussed their tax liabilities
for their foreign accounts with their friends demonstrates their awareness that the aocdanbe
taxable. Their failure to have the same contemsavith the accountds they entrusted with their
taxes for years, notwithstanding the requirement that taxpayers with foreign accounts complete
Part Ill of Schedule B, easilghons “a conscious effort t@void learning about reporting
requirements.Williams I, 489 Fed. App’x at 658 (quotirgturman951 F.2d at 1476). On these
facts, willful blindness may be inferredSee Poole640 F.3d at 122 (“[ljn a crimal tax
prosecution, when the evidence supports an inference that a defendant was subjectively aware of
a high probability of the existence of a tax iidp and purposefully ®oided learning the facts
pointing to such liability, the trier of factaw find that the dendant exhibited ‘willful blindness’
satisfying the scienter requirement of knowledge.” (quotédiihams Il in the context of civil
liability)). Thus, even without the additional evidence that was pres@vitliams I, | find based
on these undisputed facts that the Horowitzedessly disregarded the AR filing requirenent.
See Williams 11489 Fed App’xat 63. This suffices for a finding of willfulnessSee id. Safeco,
551 U.S. at 57.
Conclusion

In sum, Susan Horowitz’'s Motion for Ri@al Sumnary Judgment, ECF No. 67, IS

GRANTED; the Government’s Motion for Summaludgment, ECF No. 66, IS GRANTED as to

the 2007 penalties assessed against Peter and Susan and the 203 pejaalist Peter but
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DENIED as to the 2008 penalties against Suaad;Defendants’ Motiofor Sumnary Judgment,

ECF No. 68, IS DENIED. A smrate order will issue.

Date;: January 18, 2019 1S/
Paul W. Grimm
United States District Judge
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